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I.  
INTRODUCTION 

 
Banca Cremi, S. A., a large Mexican Bank was an institutional client of Alex

Brown & Sons, Inc., a large U. S. broker-dealer. Alex Brown, over a period of 15 months, sold the Banca over $100 million of CMO derivatives, most of which were "inverse floaters." During the first year of investing in these CMOs, the Banca had participated in 22 trades at prices exceeding $92 million, and earned profits exceeding $2 million. Thereafter, the Banca purchased six more CMO tranches from Alex Brown for $40 million. After the precipitous and unexpected drop in the liquidity of the CMO markets in April 1994, the Banca lost $21 million on these six

trades. ~.

 
Banca Cremi thereafter sued Alex Brown in federal district court in Baltimore, Maryland alleging Rule 10b-5 fraud, common law fraud, negligence, and breach of fiduciary duty. Banca' s fraud claims were promised on two principal contentions: (i) failure to disclose the risks of these complex investments to the "unsophisticated" bank, and (ii) failure to disclose allegedly excessive mark-ups.

 
The mark-ups averaged approximately 2.78%, varying from 1.78% to 5.25%. Banca Cremi contended that any mark-up over 1 % was excessive and illegal. The Banca alleged it had been charged-'over $2 million in excessive, illegal mark-ups. Thus. the Banca alleged total damages in excess of $23 million.

 
The District Court granted summary judgment to Alex Brown, finding that (i) Banca Cremi was a sophisticated institutional investor that did not fulfill its "due diligence" obligations prior to investing and therefore did not establish “justifiable reliance" on the conduct of Alex Brown, (ii) Alex Brown lacked "scienter," and (iii) the mark-ups were not excessive, and, therefore, failure to disclose them was not a Rule 10b-5 fraud. 

 
The case is presently sub judice on appeal in the Fourth Circuit. The SEC filed amicus briefs on behalf of Banca Cremi, and the PSA filed an amicus brief on behalf of Alex Brown.

II. 
THE CONTENTIONS OF BANCA CREMI  
A.  
Fraud/Fiduciary Duty

1.  
"Scienter" should have been a jury issue. -.

2.  
Failure to disclose risks violated Alex Brown's duty under the "shingle theory. "

3.  
Banca Cremi "justifiably relied" on Alex Brown’s  conduct, and had no duty of "due diligence." The Banca Cremi argued that it had satisfied the eight factor "justifiable reliance" test of Myers v. Finkle, 950 F.2d 165 (4th Cir. 1991):

i.  
the sophistication and expertise of the plaintiff in financial and securities matters;

ii. the existence of long standing business or personal relationships;

iii. iii.  
access to relevant  information;

iv.  
the existence of a fiduciary relationship;

v.  
concealment of the fraud;

vi.  
the opportunity to detect the fraud;

vii.  
whether the plaintiff initiated the stock transaction or sought to -expedite the transaction; and


viii. 
the generality or specificity of the misrepresentations.

4 
Alex Brown's conduct was the "proximate cause" of the Banca's losses.

5. 
The securities were "unsuitable" for the Banca, thereby giving rise to a breach of fiduciary duty claim.

B. 
Mark-ups 

1. 
Mark-ups over 1 % on debt securities are excessive and illegal. 

2. 
Failure to disclose mark-ups of 1.78% to 5.25% violates the "shingle theory" of duty of a broker-dealer.

i. 
Ettinger v. Merrill Lynch 835 F.2d 1031 (3d Cir. 1987).

ii. 
Hoxworth v. Blinder Robinson, 903 F.2d 186 (3d Cir. 1990).

III. 
THE CONTENTIONS OF ALEX BROWN
A. 
Fraud/Fiduciary Duty

1. 
Banca Cremi was a sophisticated institutional investor that was not entitled to rely upon the "suitability" doctrine

i.  
Utah State Univ. of Ag. & Appl. Science v. Bear. Steams & Co., 549 F.2d 164 (10th Cir. 1977)

ii.   
Platsis v. E. F. Hutton & Co., 642 F. Supp. 1277 (S. D. Mich. 1986), aff d, 829 F.2d 13 (6th Cir. 1987).

2.  
Banca Cremi failed to exercise requisite "due diligence."

i. 
Thompson v. Smith Bame:i. Harris Upsham & Co., 709 F.2d 1413  (11 th Cir. 1983).

ii. 
Dupuy v. Dupuy,  551 F.2d 1005 (5th Cir. 1977).

iii.  
Brown v. E. F. Hutton, 991 F.2d 1020 (2d Cir. 1993).

iv.  
Royal American Managers. Inc. v. IRC Holding Corp., 885 F.2d 1011 (2d Cir. 1989).

3. 
No "scienter."

4.  
Proximate caUse of the Banca's loss was the general market failure in the CMO market, not Alex Brown's conduct

i. 
Bastian v. Petren Resources Corp., 892 F .2d 680 (7th Cir.  1990).

B. Mark-ups

1. 
There is no basis for civi11iabi1ity for failure to disclose markups.
i.  
Ettinger was all but overruled by Newton v. Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner & Smith. Inc., 115 F.3d 1127 (3d Cir. 1997), which noted that Ettin2er did not address the central elements of a Rule 10b-5 cause of action, i.e., "materiality" and "scienter."

ii.  
No statutory provision, or any SEC rule, gives any guidance as to what range of mark-ups will be deemed to be excessive

iii.  
In promulgating 1934 Act Rule 10b-10 the SEC chose not to require disclosure of mark-ups on riskless trades of non-municipal debt securities (such as CMO derivatives).

2. 
The 10/22/96 Decision by the NASD National Business Conduct Committee in. In the Matter of District Business Conduct Committee v. MMAR Group. Inc. held that mark-ups and mark-downs of up to 4.7% on. CMO-derivative products were nQ1 fraudulent. The NASD Committee observed that there was no basis for the dealer to know whether the markups and mark-downs were unreasonably in excess of prevailing market prices in view of the dearth of NASD and SEC guidance regarding markups in CMO-derivative products, the lack of persuasive evidence regarding  industry standards and practice, and the fact that this was a relatively new type of security for which industry experience was evolving.
3.  
There could be no "scienter" for the mark-up allegations because there is no articulated standard establishing the bounds of a "reasonable" profit on these CMO-derivative securities.

i.  
Even the SEC and the NASD disagree as to the applicable standards; see, e.g., the MMAR Group  NASD decision.

ii. 
In Newton, 115 F .3d at 1130, the Third Circuit concluded that where there are insufficient standards by which a party might assess whether its conduct is lawful (i.e., a broker-dealer's duty of "best execution"), there can be no scienter.

4. 
The mark-ups were not "material" to Bank Cremi's investment decisions. The Banca never sought to inquire about, or to negotiate, their size.

5.  
The only applicable industry guideline as to mark-ups, even for CMO- derivatives, is the traditional NASD 5% Guideline.

i. 
See, e.g. F.B. Horner & Associates v. SEC v. SEC, 994 F.2d 61 (2d Cir. 1993) (affinning SEC's application of the NASD.'s 5% Guideline to riskless transactions in CMO derivatives)
ii.  
No SEC or judicial decision has ever held that markups below 4% are excessive, much less fraudulent.

6.  
Alex Brown's "average" mark-up here was 2.78%, and both the SEC and the courts have looked to "average" mark-ups.

7.  
If the NASD 5% Guideline, or some lesser % guideline, i.e., 1%, is applied as a rule. on pricing, as the SEC urges, the guideline/rule:

i.  
would violate Section 15-3(b) of the 1934 Act (prohibiting NASD rules that "impose any schedule or fix rates of commissions, allowances, discounts or other fees to be charged");

ii.  
would violate the federal antitrust laws prohibiting price-fixing (see .Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar 421 U. S. 773 (1975) (striking  down State bar minimum fee schedule); 324 Liquor Corp. V. Duffy, 479 U. S. 335 (1987) (striking down statute mandating mark-up of liquors over wholesale prices); and

iii.  
would violate the Administrative Procedures Act, 5 U. S. C. § 553 (requiring notice arid comment on proposed rules prior to implementation).

IV.  
THE CONTENTIONS OF THE SEC
A.  
An Excessive Mark-Up Is "Material" As A Matter of Law, And Therefore Must Be Disclosed To All Customers Regardless Of Sophistication.
1. 
"Shingle" Theory encompasses implied representation that a broker-dealer is charging its customer a price that is reasonably related to the current market price.

I.  
Charles Huihes & Co,. v, SEC, 139 F.2d 434 (2d Cir. 1943).
2. 
Breach provides basis for SEC enforcement action or private damages fraud action.

i.  
Ettinger v. Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner & Smith, 835 F.2d 1031 (3d Cir. 1987).

ii.  
Elysian Federal Savings Bank v, First Interregional Equity Corp., 713 F. Supp. 737 (D. N. J. 1989)
3. 
"Materiality" must be assessed separately from "reliance": "Undisclosed excessive markups frustrate the ability of the purchaser to make a realistic assessment of the return on the investment and the risk of loss upon resale, either immediately or at some future time. If the investor pays an excessive mark-up when he purchases the security, the yield he will receive is less than the yield he would have received if the markup had been reasonably related to the market price. Thus, any reasonable investor would find it important that he was being charged an excessive markup because the markup paid directly affects the profitability of the investment."
4.  
Duty to disclose excessive markups extends to sophisticated investors like Banca Cremi.
i. 
In re Powell & Associates 47 S. E. C. 746 (1982).
ii.  
F.B. Homer, 50 SEC 1063 (1992) (excessive markups charged to a bank).

B.  
Sufficient SEC and Court Standards Exist To Determine Whether Markups On CMOs Are Excessive. 

1. 
NASD Rules of Fair Practice, Article Ill, Section 4,  ¶ 2154 (now NASD -Rule 2440).

· "a higher percentage of mark-up customarily applies to a common stock transaction than to a bond transaction of the same size."
2.   
Staten Securities Corp. 47 S. E. C. 766 (1982).
i.  
Markups below 5% are nQ1 necessarily "fair and reasonable.”

ii.  
Mark-ups on municipal securities are often as low as one or two percent.

3.
Zero-Coupon Securities Release, 38 SEC Docket 234 (April 21, 1987).

· Common industry practice to charge between 1/32% an 3½% markups (including minimum charges) for principal sales to customers of conventional or "straight" Treasuries, depending on maturity, order size and availability.
4.   
In re Donald T. Shelton  51 S. E. C. 59 (1992).
· Even four percent -- or smaller -- markup on, government securities maybe excessive.
5. 
Investment Planning Inc.  51 S. E. C. 592 (1993).
· Markups over 4% excessive on various corporate bonds and municipal securities; 5% markups on such bonds" might be acceptable in only the most exceptional cases."

6.  
First Honolulu Securities, 51 S. E. C. 695 (1993) (same).
7. 
Lehman Bros., 62 SEC Docket 2324 (Sept. 12, 1996) (markups of 3.5% to 4.7% on debt securities --Ginnie Maes and STRIPS --were excessive).
8. 
F.B. Horner 


9. . 
SEC v. Feminella, 947 F. Supp. 722 (S. D. N. Y. 1996).

C. 
SEC Argues MMAR Is Wrong, And Does Not Reflect The Views Of The SEC.
D.  
Wrong To Use "Averages," Mark-Up On Each Transaction Must Be Viewed Separately.
E.  
Alex Brown's "Contemporaneous Cost" Is The Basis To Determine "Prevailing Market" Price.

F.  
The Standards Are Adequate For A Broker-Dealer To Know The Mark-Up Is Excessive

1.  
"To create an enforceable legal standard for excessiveness of markups, it is not necessary, as Alex Brown and the PSA appear to contend, that a precise permissible markup percentage be announced for every conceivable transaction in every conceivable security."

i.  
SEC v. Feminella, 947 F. Supp. 722 (S. D. N. Y. 1996).
2.  
The SEC and the courts may impose liability "in a case of first impression."
i.  
Chasins v. Smith Barney & Co. 438 F.2d 1167 (2d Cir. 1970).
ii.  
SEC v. Chenery Corp. 332 U. S. 194 (1947) (Chenery II) 

iii.  
Distinguishing Upton v. SEC, 75 F.3d 92 (2d Cir. 1996), the SEC argues that ".Chenery II and Bell Aerospace …… demonstrate that retroactive application of a novel principal expounded in an adjudicatory proceeding [to the parties of that case} does not infringe the rights secured by the due process clause." Citing, Sewell Coal, co. v. Federal Mine Safety & Health Review Commission, 686 F. 2 d 1066, at 1070 (4th Cir. 1982).

V. 
THE CONTENTIONS OF THE PSA THE BOND MARKET TRADE ASSOCIATION 

A.  
There Is No "Suitability" Obligation Here
1.  
No duty re suitability in a principal to principal relationship between institutional investors and securities dealers in the fixed income market. 

2.  
Banca Cremi failed to establish the "justifiable reliance" element of a Rule 10b-5 cause of action.

3. 
An institutional investor expects to make its own decision as to whether an investment is suitable for it.

4.  
An institutional investor must conduct its own "due diligence."

B.  
Banca Cremi's Losses Were Caused By The CMO Market Collapse, Not By Alex Brown's Conduct

1.  
Bastian v. Petren Resources Corp., 892 F.2d 680 (7th Cir. 1990).

2.  
Gasner v. Board of Supervisors of the County of Dinwiddie, 103 F .3d 3S 1 (4th Cir. 1996).

3.  
Associated Randall Bank v. Griffin. Kubik. Stephens & Thompson. Inc., 3 F.3d 208 (7th Cir. 1993).

4.  
In re Paine Webber Limited Partnership Litigation, 171 F. R. D. 104 (S. D. N. Y. 1997).

C.  
There Is No Fraud Claim For Failure To Disclose The Mark-Ups Here

1.  
No "reliance" by Banca Cremi

2.  
No "Discernible Guidance" As To What Mark-Ups Are Excessive For HMO-Derivatives, Precludes a Finding of "Scienter:' Here

i.  
Upton v. SEC, 75 F.3d 92 (2d Cir. 1996) -- Due process requires that "laws give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited."

· When asserted duty to disclose is ambiguous or unclear, there can be no scienter.

ii.  
Newton, 115 F.3dat 1129.
iii.  
Platsis v. E. F. Hutton & Co.. Inc., 946 F.2d 38 (6th Cir. 1991) -- finding that securities firm failed to act with scienter in failing to disclose production credits and markups earned on sales of inventory, in light of absence of established regulatory duty to disclose those items

iv. 
MMAR

VI. 
OTHER RELEVANT MATERIALS 

A.  
See, Roberta S. Karmel, "Is The Shingle Theory Dead?" 52 Wash. & Lee L. Rev. 1271 (1995). .

B. 
Gregory J. Wallance and Andrew S. Carron, "Suitability Disputes And The Institutional Investor," New York Law Journal at 1 (Oct. 9, 1997).

C.  
SEC Commissioner Steven M. H. Wallman's Concurring opinion in Raymond James & Associates. Inc SEC 1934 Act ReI. No. 38893, 65 SEC  Docket at 212 (Aug. 1, 1997):

1. 
"I concur in the Commission's determination to remand this matter to the NASD for further explanation regarding the prices used to determine that Raymond James violated the NASD's mark-up policy. I Write separately to note a more general concern regarding the NASD's requirement that its members engage in securities transactions at fair prices and commissions (see, Article III, Section 4 of NASD Rules of Air Practice)."

2.  
More specifically, and while the NASD's "5%" mark-up policy is just a guideline and was and is undoubtedly well intentioned, my strong concern is that such guidelines have the potential to set floors for pricing or to preclude or otherwise limit competition or innovation, thereby disadvantaging investors. For those reasons, in other industries, similar maximum price guide-lines have been held to represent per se violations of the antitrust laws. ...This issue is even more pointed here where the policy was established by an informal survey of industry participants over five decades ago without any rate-making or other analysis." [Footnotes omitted.]

3. 
"Therefore, while I support the decision to remand in this instance, I believe the NASD and the Commission must revisit the broader, competitive implications of the 5% policy, and other similar policies, as soon as possible." [Footnote omitted.]

VII.  
APPENDIX A: Judge Kaufman's opinion in Banca Cremi v. Alex Brown, - F. Supp. CCH Fed. Sec. L. Rep. ¶ 99,460 (D. Md. Feb. 5, 1997).

(  Mr. Mathews is a senior partner and Mr. Parekh is an associate at Wilmer, Cutler & Pickering, Washington, D.C.





